

KNOWLEDGE IN ACTION

# **Faculty of Business Economics**

Master of Management

Master's thesis

Sustainable leadership

# **Zeeshan Ahmad Butt**

Thesis presented in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Management, specialization Data Science

# **SUPERVISOR:**

Prof. dr. Dave STYNEN



 $\frac{2024}{2025}$ 



# **Faculty of Business Economics**

# Master of Management

# Master's thesis

# Sustainable leadership

#### **Zeeshan Ahmad Butt**

Thesis presented in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Management, specialization Data Science

### **SUPERVISOR:**

Prof. dr. Dave STYNEN

# **Preface:**

This master's thesis is written as part of obtaining my master's degree in management & data science at the University of Hasselt.

I want to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, promoter Professor Dr. Dave Stynen, for his invaluable guidance, expertise, and patience. His insightful feedback and mentorship have been critical in shaping the direction of my research and refining my academic skills. I am truly fortunate to have had the opportunity to work under his supervision.

I am also extremely grateful to my parents for their unconditional love and support throughout my journey. Their encouragement has been the driving force behind everything.

Lastly, I would like to thank all the individuals who contributed to my research by participating in and sharing my survey, which helped enrich my study and improve its overall quality.

# The Impact of Sustainable HRM Practices on Employee Performance: Moderation Analysis of Sustainable Leadership

#### **Abstract**

Organizations are increasingly embedding sustainability principles into their HRM and leadership practices in response to growing concerns for sustainability. The main aim of this study was to examine how sustainable HRM practices relate to employee performance, and explore whether sustainable leadership moderates this relationship. Drawing on the AMO framework this study developed a conceptual model linking sustainable HRM and two key dimensions (task and conceptual) of employee performance, while considering the conditional role of leadership.

The data for this study were collected through an online survey from 129 full-time employees working across various industries in Pakistan. The results of regression analysis revealed that sustainable HRM practices are positively associated with both task and contextual performance. Similarly, sustainable leadership also demonstrated a significant direct association, particularly with contextual performance. The interaction term between sustainable HRM practices and sustainable leadership was also significant, suggesting that the positive relationship between sustainable HRM practices and performance outcomes amplifies in presence of high sustainable leadership.

The study contributes to the sustainable HRM literature by highlighting the synergetic effects of policy and leadership alignment. Theoretical and managerial implications are discussed, along with limitations and recommendations for future research.

**Keywords:** Sustainable HRM practices; Sustainable Leadership; Employee Performance; AMO framework; Sustainability.

# **Table of Contents**

Preface:
Abstract3
1. Introduction
2. Literature Review11
2.1 Sustainable human resource management
2.2 Sustainable leadership
2.3 Employee performance
2.4 Sustainable HRM practices and employee performance
2.5 Sustainable leadership and employee performance
3. Method19
3.1 Study design
3.2 Sample and data collection
3.3 Measures
3.3.1. Control variables
3.3.2. Sustainable human resource management (SHRM) practices
3.3.3. Employee performance
3.3.4. Sustainable leadership22
3.4 Data analysis
4. Results
4.1 Descriptive results
4.2 Correlational analysis
4.3 Hypothesis Testing
4.3.1. Task performance
4.3.2. Contextual performance as dependent variable
5. Discussion
5.1 Theoretical and managerial implications
5.2 Conclusion, limitations and future research
References
Appendix:

#### 1. Introduction

The increased focus on sustainability in modern-day business world has reformed the organizational strategies across different industries. Adoption of UN's Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) in 2015 has amplified the attention of the economies and economic entities worldwide towards sustainability. The SDGs, by setting measurable targets, are intended to guide governments, businesses, and societal decision making across a broad range of sustainability challenges, including but not limited to climate change, poverty, social inclusion, justice, and environmental protection. (Choi et al. 2016). The first turn towards sustainability developed in the 1960s, and can be understood as a process which connects economic and social aspects, while considering environmental protection (Katarzyna Piwowar-Sulej, 2021). The problem of environmental protection was initially highlighted by "The Limits to Growth" report, which presented a gloomy vision of the Earth (Meadows et al., 1972). The concept gained further attention after the publishing of Brundtland Report, that described sustainable development as "referring to the action and development of organizations so that, when meeting the needs of the present, they do not compromise the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (WCED ,1987, pp.43). Elkington (1997) further enriched the concept of sustainability, he suggested that it is based on three principles commonly known as Triple Bottom Line (TBL): People, Planet, and Profit. Where people refer to right of all stakeholders to access resources, planet refers to its limited regeneration capacity, and profit refers to quality of life achieved though productive capacity of a system. Sustainability is not a concern of any single entity, rather it has been stressed to be integrated at various levels, global, national, regional, and organizational. For the organizations/firms it is defined as "meeting the needs of a firm's direct and indirect stakeholders (such as shareholders, employees, clients, communities, etc.), without compromising its ability to meet the needs of future stakeholder as well" (Dyllick and Hockerts, 2002, pp. 131). Elkington (2004, pp.3) described it as "encouraging in this way firms to focus on not just economic value they add, but also on environmental and social value they add-or destroy". The significance of sustainability for organizations has been spiralling, acknowledging the pivotal role these entities can play in sustainable development (Nicolò et al., 2023). Hence, firms act as a critical contributor to sustainable development by considering social, ecological, and economic concerns throughout decision making (Emas, 2015).

Over the past few decades, various interrelated factors have motivated firms to adopt sustainability-oriented strategies. Due to growing stakeholder expectations, legislative pressure, and shifting societal values, an unprecedent imperativeness regarding sustainability has emerged. Broader global business transformations, rising sustainability awareness, and increasing trend of sustainable investment has led to the above-mentioned changes (Hirsig et al., 2014), and now firms are seen as responsible for not only profit generation but creating shard value for the society (Latapí Agudelo et al., 2019). Furthermore, regulatory bodies have also pushed firms to reveal environmental and social outcomes together with financial performance through frameworks like Global Reporting Initiatives (GRI) and Integrated Framework (IRF). The expectation that firms must be accountable for their environmental and societal impacts has been further pushed by increased legislative attention to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) (Leyens, 2018; Lin, 2020). All these factors and forces have led to shift in corporate focus, aligning business operations with the Tripple

bottom line; Social, Ecological, and Economic sustainability (Ehnert et al., 2014). Going above and beyond regulatory compliance, many firms willingly adopt sustainable practices acknowledging the strategic value these practices bring. Particularly, integrated reporting that presented a comprehensive view of organizational performance augments transparency for both internal and external stakeholders (Crous et al., 2022). These practices are more and more perceived are opportunities for competitive advantage and long-term success rather than obligations (Samant & Sangle, 2016).

While sustainability practices are generally adopted by large enterprises, evidence shows that SMEs also significantly benefit from such initiatives (ISTAT, 2023). Companies with high CSR and ESG ratings usually enjoy stronger market performance, higher long-term shareholder returns, and lower financing costs (Deutsche Bank, 2012; Accenture, 2020). According to IBM (2022), financial benefits of sustainability practices are not just short-term rather it is believed by majority of the executives that investment in these practices will yield better financial outcomes over the next five years. Similar views are shared by the investors those expect that ESG programs will enhance shareholder values (McKinsey, 2020). Based on all these insights, it can be concluded that sustainability is no longer a niche, it has turned into an essential element of corporate strategy, having wide-ranging impacts on decision making from product development to workforce management.

As a firm's performance is linked to first of all its employees, Human Resource Management (HRM) has attracted great attention as a critical lever for leading long-term sustainability withing firms. The significant role played by HR in sustainability by creating and implementing sustainable business strategies has been widely recognized by the researchers (Boudreau & Ramstad, 2005; Jamali et al., 2015: Cohen et al., 2012). According to Ehnert and Harry (2012), HRM professionals are principal actors in advancing "sustainability mindset" in business organizations. Conventionally, the primary job of the HRM was to manage workforce to enhance productivity and reduces cost. However, the increased awareness of social, ecological, and economic sustainability has enforced integration of sustainability with HRM practices. When HRM practices support sustainability, they contribute to organizational resilience, employee well-being, and overall performance (Kramar, 2014). This shift towards amalgamation of sustainability into human resource management practices has led to introduction of new HRM concepts such as "Green HRM", "Corporate Social Responsibility", "socially responsible HRM", "common good HRM", "triple bottom line HRM", and "Sustainable HRM".

In the last decade, an approach which has gained significant attention is Sustainable HRM (SHRM). SHRM as strategic HRM, clearly recognizes the impact that policies related to people management may have on economy and human lives, and in addition also the adverse impacts on social, financial, ecological outcomes (Kramar, 2014). By integrating ecological, social, and financial considerations into HR Strategies, enterprises can support their employees by encouraging their involvement, efforts, and satisfaction (Jabbour & Jabbour, 2016; Dyllick & Hockerts, 2002). Furthermore, adoption of SHRM practices by organizations is seen as crucial for driving competitiveness and securing a sustainable future (Singh et al. 2019). For boosting sustainable performance and implement policies and practices HRM is regarded as a principal success factor (Sheehan, 2014). HR is also considered as a competitive advantage for organizational success

because it can lead to novelty and sustainable performance as well as efficient use of organizational resources (Singh et al., 2019). In fact, several leading corporations have adopted innovative SHRM practices for long-term success. For example, SAP introduced social sabbatical program (Desai & Donovan, 2022), Patagonia employees can get two months' off with full pay for taking part in environmental internship (Chiu, 2022), and Unilever set up sustainable living plan academy (Lawrence et al., 2019).

Despite the significance of employee performance for organizational success conventional HRM practices fail to address the holistic need of the employee in fast changing and resourceconstrained world. Sustainable HRM practices are believed to have a potential to enhance employee outcomes by creating inclusive and supportive work environment (de Prins et al., 2014; Elsawy, 2022). Jabbour and Jabbour (2016) have pointed that, organizations failing to adopt green HRM (SHRM) often struggle with employee retention, commitment, and performance. SHRM practices, such as GHR initiatives, "green recruitment", "training and development", "employee well-being programs", "performance management", and "ethical HR", have been found to enhance employee performance by promoting a culture of sustainability and responsibility (Nagi et al., 2024). For example, Amjad et al. (2021) described that GHRM have a positive impact on sustainability of the organization. Furthermore, previous studies have shown that SHRM practices are positively associated with employee's professional development, that leads to better job satisfaction and performance (Hassaan & Bibi, 2023). SHRM practices such as open communication by supervisors, a reasonable workload, and career opportunities contribute to create a work environment that support alignment of individual goals with organizational goals (Janssen, 2000; Lee, 2019; Prieto and Pérez-Santana, 2014; Diaz-Carrion et al., 2018).

Though the literature on sustainable SHRM practices and organizational and employee outcomes has grown rapidly in the past few years, still there are several gaps those need to be addressed. For example, several researchers have explored the independent effect of sustainable HRM (Shen & Benson, 2016; Lu et al. 2023) on different organizational outcomes, there is unclarity on when and how SHRM process and practices influence employee performance. The existing literature on Sustainable HRM practices-employee performance relationship is at its budding stage with inadequate understanding of the mechanism through which SHRM practices impact employee performance. For instance, while some scholars have suggested that sustainable HRM practices have a sportive influence on employee commitment and productivity (Zaug et al. 2001), others have argued that effectiveness of the relationship depends on organizational culture and leadership support (Ehnert, 2009). Therefore, without a clear understanding, organizations may struggle to implement sustainable HRM practices that deliver tangible performance outcomes. Additionally, the role of sustainable leadership in this relationship is mainly unmapped. Considering that leadership style has a significant impact on employee behavior and organizational culture (Iqbal & Piwowar-Sulej, 2022), it is pertinent to explore the effect of sustainable leadership on the relationship between SHRM practices and employee outcomes.

Sustainable HRM and employee performance has been linked in the past studies on the basis of rationale that prioritizing sustainability in HRM strategies tend to have more committed, satisfied,

and productive employees for the organization (Aust et al., 2020). However, there is continuing discussion on the effectiveness of SHRM and the role of leadership in strengthening or changing their impact (Renwick et al., 2016). Schoemaker et al. (2021) argued that effectiveness of SHRM practices in employee performance is conditional on the presence of sustainable leadership. Sustainable leadership, goes beyond traditional leadership by incorporating long-term thinking, ethical decision-making, and social accountability into managerial practices (Avery & Bergsteiner, 2011). In other words, a leader who pays equal attention to present and future goals of the firms (Hargreaves & Fink, 2011) is a sustainable leader. Although, SHRM practices are designed in such was that they boost employee performance in the organization, however their effect may be conditional on the extent to which the leader promotes sustainability values (Aust et al. 2020). Hence, the role of leadership is crucial in shaping organizational culture and effective implementation of the SHRM practices is dependents on the leaders. For instance, sustainable leaders are more plausibly to introduce GHRM initiatives, including energy efficiency, waste reduction, sustainable commuting, and these initiatives contribute to environmental sustainability and employee satisfaction (Renwick et al., 2016). Furthermore, these leaders also presumptively prioritize employee development, diversity, and inclusion, those are key determinants of the SHRM and may lead to enhanced employee performance (Aust et al., 2020). Therefore, it is plausible that effectiveness of SHRM practices in effecting employee performance is influenced by the degree to which leaders promote sustainability values within the organization. The impact of SHRM practices can be strengthened if the leader is committed to the sustainability and communicates sustainability values to employee (Aust et al., 2020).

Despite the budding literature on the sustainable HRM-employee performance relationship, significant gap exists. Firstly, while researchers have investigated the impact of sustainable HRM on organizational outcomes, direct effect of sustainable HRM practices on employee performance is underexplored. Secondly, little is known about the moderating role of sustainable leadership in this relationship. Thirdly, while the existing literature provides valuable insights, they have studied the impact of SHRM and leadership in isolation. Literature analysing the combined effect of both on employee performance is limited. Therefore, the present study seeks to fill the gap by exploring the relationship between sustainable HRM practices and employee performance and investigating whether sustainable leadership strengthens this relationship. Thus, the primary objective of this research is to study the relationship between SHRM practices, sustainable leadership, and employee performance. The specific objectives of the study are as follows;

- To examine the relationship between sustainable HRM practices and employee performance.
- To investigate the moderating role of sustainable leadership in the relationship between sustainable HRM practices and employee performance.

The present study is important for several reasons. Firstly, while SHRM and sustainable leadership are gaining growing attention in organizational research, empirical evidence on their direct and interactive effect remains unexplored. Past studies have mainly emphasized on traditional HRM or

leadership, leaving a critical gap in understanding the sustainable HRM practices-performance relationship. The present study fills this gap by offering rigours empirical evidences on the (i) direct association between sustainable HRM practices and employee performance, (ii) the relationship between sustainable leadership and employee performance, (iii) and moderating role of sustainable leadership in first relationship. In this way, it contributes primarily to theoretical advancement in sustainability HRM literature. secondly, the study will help practitioners understand the conditions under which sustainable HRM practices can be effectively implemented to attain long-term organizational sustainability.

Based on this foundation, the study also provides practical relevance for organizations that aim to enhance employee performance through sustainability-aligned HRM strategies. The findings can help HR professionals and business leaders in understanding how sustainable HRM practices such inclusive decision making, long-term development initiatives, and fair work environment can be linked to better performance outcomes. Moreover, the moderating role of sustainable leadership highlights the importance of leadership that supports ethical values, long-term thinking, and employee well-being. The findings are particularly valuable in contexts where organizations are aiming to align their internal practices with broader sustainability goals. By offering this evidence on these relationships, this study supports more informed decision-making for practitioners and contributes to the growing literature on sustainable management practices. Ultimately, it provides both scholars and practitioners clearer understanding of how HRM and leadership can work jointly to support employee and employee outcomes.

## 2. Literature Review

# 2.1 Sustainable human resource management

Sustainable HRM is being widely studied and discuss due to its potential benefits for firms and their stakeholders (employees, customers, and external environment). Unlike Traditional HRM, SHRM is a composite concept that includes an array of strategies and practices to achieve both longterm sustainability of employee and social, financial, and ecological goals (Kramar, 2014). Human Resource Management concept traces back to 20th Century and is used by SMEs to multinational corporations nowadays (Obedqiu, 2017). Traditionally, HRM has been viewed as a broad and planned ways to manage people of an organization so that they aid in gaining competitive advantage (Collings et al., 2018). Though before that HRM was seen as just hiring and firing of the employees, what led managers to be concerned with potential and role of HRM in achieving organizational success and departing from seeing it as a simple administrative function (Beer et al., 1984). In 1978, Walker suggested for a need to create a link between human resource planning and firm's strategy, consequently a new approach to HRM called strategic human resource management emerged, and its role was to manage employees in a turbulent and dynamic environment (Kramar, 2014). This field was further advanced by Devanna et al. (1981), they deeply explored the relationship between HRM and organizational strategy. More recently, strategic HRM was described by Wright et al. (2001) as "not only devoted to exploring HR's role in supporting business strategy, but simultaneously concerned with creating firm-specific HRM practices that are adapted to the circumstances of an organization".

Therefore, the strategic HRM concept led to studies and approaches aimed at exploring the link between HRM and its potential contribution to financial performance and productivity. The link between HRM practices and productivity, revenue, and overall financial performance has been explored by many researchers for long-time (Huselid, 1995; Lee et al., 2017). That means the strategic HRM concept only focused on the contribution of HRM system to overall financial performance merely for purpose of maximizing shareholder's returns (Beer et al., 2015). In other words, the adoption of strategic HRM was focused on adoption and design of HR strategies in order to assess their influence on the firm's economic performance (Boxall et al., 2007), while disregarding the welfare of society and employee, and also environmental concerns (Beer et al. 2015). From 1980s, the principles of strategic HRM have dominated the HRM literature (De Prins et al., 2014). In past two decades, growing concern of sustainability at business level has motivated researchers to link sustainability to HRM system (Stankeviciute et al., 2020), Which has led to emergence of Sustainable HRM from strategic HRM (Kramar, 2014).

Contrary to strategic HRM, sustainable HRM not only acknowledges the influence of HR policies on human and financial outcomes, but also prospects of the adverse impacts on human, social, and environmental outcomes. While, there is no unanimous definition of the SHRM (Fei and Wang), particularly due to newness of the concept, according to Kramar (2022) SHRM departs from

the strategic HRM objective of financial outcomes to more comprehensive goals. For example, as discussed above the focus of strategic HRM have been on planning and adoption of HRM policies to enhance organizations' economic efficiency and effectiveness thereby contributing to economic success of the organization through HRM practices (App et al., 2012). Hence, in Strategic HRM "people management policies and practices were design to achieve organizational outcome from the perspective of financial performance to increase shareholders' value (Kramar, 2014). On the other hand, SHRM approach aims to accomplish complex goals than strategic HRM. According to Giraldo-Giraldo et al. (2025) SHRM seeks to balance financial performance with social equity and environmental stewardship, ensuring that HR practices contribute to sustainable development goals. SHRM is broadly defined as introduction and adoption of HR policies and practices those advance long-term financial, social, and ecological sustainability of the organization and society at large (Kramar, 2014; Ehnert, 2009). In this way, positive achievements are not linked to just increased financial performance (De Prins et al., 2014), rather it clearly recognises the role of HRM practices in advancing a broader range of outcomes (Kramar et al., 2014). According to Ehnert (2009) sustainable HRM has a multidimensional focus that consider the influence of HRM practices on internal stakeholders (employees & managers), external stakeholders (communities & governments), and the broader environmental system. Similarly, Kramar (2014) differentiated SHRM and strategic HRM by highlighting normative orientation of the SHRM. He stated that SHRM is not just concerned with financial performance of the organization but also with social justice, ethical labor practices, and environmental stewardship.

This new sustainable HRM approach has been operationalized in the literature in several different ways according to the importance attached to different internal and external outcomes; such as "socially responsible HRM", "Green HRM", "Triple Bottom Line HRM", and "common good HRM" (Kramar, 2014; Stahl et al, 2020; Aust et al., 2020; Piwowar-Sulej, 2021). These types of sustainable HRM, while diverse from each other in their primary focus and strategies, are grounded in one common concept: "sustainability". Hence, they are not inharmonious but rather epitomise different dimensions of the principal concept of SHRM.

Socially responsible HRM has its roots in corporate social responsibility (CSR). Socially responsible HRM has been described as an approach integrating social responsibility into an HR practice, creating social value through HR behaviour, policies, and practices (Gahlawat Kundu, 2021; Lu et al., 2023). Scouarnec (2005) further described that socially responsible HRM is about enhancing organizational influence on the people. Looking at people inside of the organization (employees, executives & management) and also at people outside (customers, suppliers, in short whole society) from the perspectives of health, safety and quality. Socially Responsible HRM focuses on social dimensions while still serving the financial purposes, as it tries to diminishes the adverse impacts of the firm (Dyllick and Muff, 2016). While, it clearly leaves out of focus the environmental dimension, it harmonises with TBL HRM and common-good HRM on social dimension (Liang and Li, 2024). The second main type of SHRM dominating the literature is Green HRM (GHRM). GHRM enlarges the scope of the previously discussed HRM approach by including sustainability related issues into HRM systems (Renwick et al., 2013). Green HRM emphasizes on the financial and ecological outcomes (Liang & Li, 2024). According to Lu et al., (2023) and Renwick et al., (2016),

GHRM seeks to produce environmental value and reduce costs by employing environment-friendly policies and practices, such as green recruitment, training, and rewards. In other words, GHRM promotes the sustainable use of resources of a firm to accomplish the goal of environmental sustainability (Amjad et al., 2021). As a result, it shares commonalities with TBL and common-good HRM on environmental dimension with a narrower scope (Liang & Li, 2024), and lefts out one important dimension "social".

The third approach to SHRM- "Triple bottom line HRM" is different from previously discussed approaches, as it is not merely concerned with environmental dimension of HRM or just social, rather it comprehensively focuses on all three dimensions (Economic, environmental, and social) (Aust et al. 2020). TBL is based on the idea of accomplishing a "triple win" scenario, here the organization tracks social equity, economic well-being, and environmental quality at the same time (Piwowar-Sulej, 2021). TBL-HRM captures the spirit of both socially responsible HRM and GHRM at one hand, and on other hand it aligns with the wider goal of common-good HRM. In this way, it is commonly referred as "general sustainable HRM" (Aust et al., 2020; Piwowar-Sulej, 2021). Common good HRM is a recent approach, which beyond economic target encapsulates common-good value into all aspects of HR policy (Liang and Li, 2024). In conclusion, while all these approaches have different primary focus, environment for GHRM, social for Socially responsible HRM, and balancing three goals for TBL-HRM, and Common good HRM for global challenges- they all have a common goal of sustainability contributing to strategic approach of SHRM.

The sustainable HRM has been described with help of several models and framework in the literature. For example, Sustainable HRM model of Kramar (2014) that was built upon Ehnert (2009)'s work. Another model developed by De Prins et al. (2014) is referred as ROC model. The development of ROC model is based on Kramar (2014)'s definition of SHRM. Kramar (2014) defined SHRM in three concrete building blocks-Respect, openness, and continuity, those were earlier described by De Lange & Koppens (2007), and initially derived from the Elkington (1994)'s Profit, people, and planet. ROC model of De Prins et al. (2014) divides sustainable HRM practices in three different dimensions; "respect", "openness", and "continuity". Respect embodies treating employees with dignity, fairness, and ethical consideration. It Implies that sustainable HRM practices should protect employee rights, ensure active listening-problem solving and fair treatment, promote diversity and open communication, and support well-being (De Prins et al., 2014; Carmeli et al., 2015).

Openness refers to transparency, participation, and trust within an organization's system (De Prins et al., 2014). De Prins et al. (2019) suggested that the link between HRM and outside environment is highlighted by addressing labour market challenges such as diversity, significance of work-life balance, and aging society. Finally, Continuity represents a long run outlook from both organizations and employee relationship perspective. Every organization aims for prolonged survival and sustainable HRM can be potential contributing factor in this ambition (De Prins et al. 2019). Continuity denotes organization's commitment to investing in employee capabilities, ensuring employability, and creating secure career pathways that contribute to both organizational and societal sustainability. Hence, organizations those adopt the practices promoting respect, openness, and continuity, are implementing SHRM. In this stream, literature has identified some more tangible

HRM practices for firms, such as transparent communication by supervisors (Prieto and Pérez-Santana, 2014), diversity management (H.-W. Lee, 2019), facilitating work-life balance by providing a rational workload (Stankevičiūtė and Savanevičienė, 2018) employee training and development by offering mentoring programs, & performance management by providing career opportunities (Diaz-Carrion et al., 2019).

In this study SHRM is operationalized using the multidimensional framework presented by De Prins et al. (2020). This framework focuses on integrating sustainable values into HR practices those promote organizational effectiveness and employee well-being. These include: promoting fair and transparent reward system; balancing jobs with employees' potential and interests; fostering employee autonomy and voices; driving employee participation in decision making; eliminating hierarchical barriers, and awarding learning opportunities for long-term employability. Hence, SHRM practices in this study consists of the initiatives that are value based such as equal treatment, open communication, employee well-being, development support. All of these initiatives are embedded within a long-term perspective that align with sustainability goals.

In conclusion, this study used the ROC-model presented by De Pins et al. (2024) as a normative framework to conceptualize SHRM practices. The ROC model postulates that SHRM should be designed around the values of respect, openness, and continuity, that serves as a key principle for applying sustainability at human resource level. These values offer basis for implementing ethical, inclusive, and long-term employment practices that are consistent with the sustainability goals. Though, the ROC model provides a meaningful way to define and operationalize SHRM, but it does not directly explain how SHRM leads to improved employee performance. The following sections entails theoretical explanation of the relationship between sustainable HRM practices, employee performance, and moderating role of sustainable leadership.

## 2.2 Sustainable leadership

The notion of Sustainable Leadership in Organizational behavior introduced by Avery (2005) in 2005, before that Hagreaves and Fink (2004) defined sustainable leadership model in the educational organization as the ability to foster deep learning, promote diversity, justice, shared decision making, and ensure long term development. The model basically emphasized on building a better future through resource sharing, talent development, and learning from past experiences. Similarly, in organizational behavior, Avery (2005) defined sustainable leadership as "a leader that owns long-term decision-making skills, promotes systematic innovation, develops a loyal employee, and delivers high end products and services, through suitable management practices to achieve long term organizational sustainability". Suriyankietkaew and Avery (2016) suggested that if the organization doesn't have better performance, sustainability becomes harder to achieve. According to Gerard et al. (2017) embedding the idea of sustainable development into leadership has the potential to change and shape a sustainable organization. Increasing number of studies have examined sustainable leadership due to is potential to foster organizations to further towards sustainable development (Dalati et al., 2017; Piwowar-Sulej et al., 2021). The concept is usually considered to be related to TBL and it is conceptualized as a strategic orientation that emphasize on present and future financial outcomes for the organization while at the same time improving the lives of all stakeholders (McCann & Sweet, 2014).

The sustainable leadership is different from other forms of leaderships, such as green transformational leadership, ethical leadership, and responsible leadership. While green transformational leadership is described as a behavior that motivates the subordinates to accomplish environmental goals and surpass the expected level of environmental performance (Cheng and chang, 2014), its essence is still transformational leadership and it lacks the breadth of sustainable leadership (Liao, 2022). Similarly, Ethical leadership that refers to demonstrating appropriate conduct through personal action and relationship, and inspiring followers to adopt and ethical behavior by interactions and communications with them (Brown et al., 2005) lacks breadth of sustainable leadership. According to Liao (2022), the focus of ethical leadership is limited to only binary relationship between leaders and their follower, bust sustainable leadership while also practices ethical principles it goes beyond this scope by emphasizing moral principles focused on environmental and community as well. Finally, the responsible leadership concept introduced by Maak and Pless (2006) share the commonality of considering social responsibility with sustainable leadership. However, the responsible leadership focuses that organizational development can be achieved if leaders pay attention to social responsibility and business ethics. On the other hand, sustainable leadership is not limited to social and ethical considerations, it extends to economy, society and environment (Liao, 2022). According to Avery and Bergsteiner (2011) sustainable leadership surpasses all other forms of leadership, because it focuses on balanced development of economy, society, and the environment, along with supporting organizations to achieve sustainability and profitable growth.

#### 2.3 Employee performance

Employee performance has been linked to HRM, since the introduction of HRM as a field. However, in recent decades, employee performance construct has updated from mere being defined by task efficiency to broader definition encompassing behavioral, contextual, and adaptive dimensions (Borman & Motowidlo, 1993). Employee performance indicates the efficiency with which job- holders perform activities those contribute to the companies' goals. Employee performance encompasses various forms such as task performance, contextual performance, and adaptive performance, and it denotes estimated value of an individual's action to an organization (Campbell, 2000).

Task performance relates to the effectiveness of employee in completing job-specific responsibilities, that is assessed based on the proficiency of employees in finishing their job responsibilities and measured in both quality and quantity perspectives (Sverke et al., 2019; Liang and Lee, 202; Viswesvaran & Ones, 2000). Task performance is also often referred as task proficiency, technical proficiency, and job-specific competence (Sverke et al., 2019; Liang and Lee, 2024). Whereas, contextual performance encompasses voluntary behaviors that contributes to the organizations' goals, by positively influencing the work environment, such as supporting coworkers or promotion organizational goals (Viswesvaran & Ones, 2000; Carpini et al., 2017; Liang and Lee, 2024). Contextual performance has been described as non-job specific task proficiency, interpersonal relations, extra-role performance, and organizational citizenship behavior in the literature (Koopmans et al., 2011; Carpini et al., 2017). Finally, adaptive performance means the ability of an

employee to respond effectively to change and novelty (Pulakos et al, 2000; Charbonnier-Voirin & Rousse, 2012). Jointly, all these factors define the degree to which employee contribute to the organizational goals.

# 2.4 Sustainable HRM practices and employee performance

High employee performance is critically important for organizational success, because it leads to productivity, quality and customer satisfaction (Armstrong, 2023). Performance is shaped by several factors, such an individual's attributes (motivation, skill, personality, emotional intelligence etc.), organization related factors (leadership style, work environment, organization culture), and human resource management practices (Guest, 1997; Sonnentag & Frese, 2000).

Resource Based Theory (RBV) proposed by Barney (1991) suggests that "possession of essential resources enable a form to create competitive advantage and enhanced performance. Among these resources, human capital is often considered as one of the most critical. Sustainable HRM practices, such as recruitment, training, development, employee well-being, and participative decision making are mechanisms through which organization invest in, develop, and retain valuable human capital. According to Resource Based View, when sustainable HRM practices are implemented consistently and aligned with organizational goals, they contribute to enhance employee capabilities, and motivation, eventually leading to superior performance outcomes. Hence, sustainable HRM practices can be seen as strategic enablers that shape the human resource into a source of sustained performance advantage.

Another theory, commonly known as AMO (Ability-Motivation-Opportunity) framework suggests that employee performance results from three key drivers; individual abilities (skill and competencies), motivation (desire and willingness to perform), and opportunities available to them (Appelbaum et al.,2000). In the context of Sustainable HRM practices, sustainability-oriented training and development programs can improve employee abilities (Renwick et a., 2013). Ethical performance appraisal, fair compensation, and recognition systems can promote motivation (Jabbour and Santos, 2008). Furthermore, HRM practices such as, employee involvement in sustainability initiatives, participative decision making, and open communication can create opportunities for employees (Dumont et al., 2017). Studies extend support to this alignment between sustainable HRM practices and AMO by exhibiting that HR systems tailored to strengthen abilities, motivation, and opportunities contribute positively to employee performance outcomes. For example, Dumont et al. (2017) suggested that GHRM practices, such as green involvement and communication, enhance employee task performance through increased engagement. Moreover, Guerci et al. (2016) found that SHRM practices significantly predict individual and team-level performance by fostering a climate of trust and responsibility. A study by Jabbour and de Oliveira (2010) in the Brazilian manufacturing sector showed that organizations with environmentally aligned HRM practices observed higher productivity and employee satisfaction. These findings are mirrored in European contexts as well; for instance, Dumont et al. (2017) found that Green HRM practices enhance employees' voluntary workplace green behaviors (VWGB), which are positively associated with task performance and organizational citizenship behaviors. Therefore, by systematically, enhancing employee abilities, motivation, and

opportunities, sustainable HRM practices can play a critical role in enhancing employee outcomes. Based on this explanation and literary evidence, it is hypothesized that:

**H1a:** Sustainable Human Resource Management practices are positively related to employee task performance

**H1.b:** Sustainable Human Resource Management practices are positively related to employee contextual performance

#### 2.5 Sustainable leadership and employee performance

The social exchange theory (SET) presented by Blau (1964) proposes that relationships at workplaces are dependent on social exchanges that involve rewards and costs experienced by the people involved in these exchanges (Do et al., 2024). According to SET when employee feel that their leaders care about employee well-being, show commitment to ethical perspectives, and maintain sustainability values, they are likely to reciprocate it with positive attitude and behavior, such as higher job involvement and better performance (Blau, 1964; Casimir et al., 2014). The patience and care demonstrated by the leaders can also promote a conducive and resource-laden work environment that contributes towards performance of the employees (Casimir et al. 2024). This theoretical explanation is supported by a growing body of literature. The researchers have discussed that sustainable leadership promotes an inclusive, ethical, and participatory work culture, that leads to employee satisfaction, motivation, trust, and eventually performance (Hargreaves & Fink, 2006; Suriyankietkaew and Avery, 2014; Metcalf & Benn, 2013; Dalati et al., 2017; Burawat, 2019; Iqbal et al., 2020; Kantabutra and Thepha-Aphiraks, 2016; Suriyankietkaew and Avery, 2016; Avery and Bergsteiner, 2011). Furthermore, Saha et al. (2020) found that sustainable leadership has a significant positive impact on team creativity, well-being, and task performance. Sustainable leaders influence self-efficacy and resilience of the employees, and these factors are crucial for high performance in dynamic environment. Leaders that demonstrate sustainability values can influence employee attitude by serving as a role model. Javed et al. (2021) argued that sustainable leadership help their employees achieve their work goal, instigating them to demonstrate positive outcomes. In another study, it was found that sustainable leadership is positively associated with employee well-being and long-term performance outcomes (Avery and Bergsteiner, 2011). Moreover, sustainable leaders tend to empower their employees by delegating responsibilities and promoting autonomy, those are the key factors for intrinsic motivation and performance (Ng & Burke, 2010).

Sustainable leadership practices are believed to enhance satisfaction of the employees. Since employees have been long discussed as most valuable asset of an organization, their satisfaction is critical factor of organizational performance (Al-Swidi et al., 2012). Sustainable leaders manage their employee as part of diverse group of stakeholders. Through their actions sustainable leaders enhance employee engagement and commitment (Berthon et al., 2008). Employee engagement, commitment, and satisfaction drives them to improve their performance. Leadership has also been linked to employees' OCB; employees are likely to follow the approach demonstrated by their leader as they view leader as role models. Hence, a leader exhibiting sustainability causes employee to

show heightened feeling of belonging and responsibility (Iqbal & Piwowar-Sulej, 2023; Iqbal & Ahmad, 2021; Liao, 2022). When employees believe that they are essential to the organization, they do efforts to meet the expectations of the organization (Teng et al., 2020). Therefore, sustainable leadership can inspire employees to go beyond their formal job roles and demonstrate high performance.

While the relationship between SHRM practices and sustainable leadership, and employee performance has been frequently discussed in the recent literature. There is a need to further integrate these concepts conceptually and empirically. As Leroy et al. (2018) argued that aligning HRM systems with leadership behavior is critical to enhance employee outcomes, yet the intersection of these two concepts in the context of sustainability remains underexplored. The HRM-Leadership Congruence Theory presented by Leroy et al. (2018) posits that, the effectiveness of HRM practices is not determined in isolation but is conditional on how well they align with leadership bhevaiors. A leadership behavior that reinforces the values and intent of HRM systems increases the probability of desired employee outcomes. Sustainable leadership, with its focus on long-term thinking, ethics, and employee well-being, can enhance the relationship between sustainable HRM practices and employee performance.

As far as success of SHRM practices is concerned, leadership plays and essential role in determining whether these practices are adopted or resisted by the employees. According to Aust et al. (2020) leaders are the principal communicators of values and norms within an organization. If leaders actively promote sustainability, it enhances the legitimacy of the SHRM initiatives. In contrast, if leaders fail to back sustainability initiatives, even the very well-designed HRM system may fail to influence employee behavior. Renwick et al. (2013) argued that GHRM practices should be embedded into the culture of an organization that is supported by top management. If the employees perceive that leadership rhetoric and actual HR practices are not aligned, they are likely to become disconnected. Additionally, employee attitude and behavior towards SHRM initiatives is influenced by the actions of leader because leader serves as behavioural role model for them. According to Bandura (1977), individuals learn by observing credible and respected other, in the context of this study "sustainable leaders". When employees observe that their leaders are engaging in sustainability behaviors, they are likely to respond positively to SHRM systems by internalizing these values. This results into improving effectiveness of SHRM and fosters proactive performance behavior. The literature has supported the notion that relationship between sustainable HRM practices and employee performance is contingent upon leadership. For example, Zientara and Zamojska (2018) discussed that the influence of GHRM practices on employee engagement was stronger when perceived organizational leadership was devoted to sustainability. Similarly, another study proved that transformational leadership strengthens the relationship between CSR-driven HRM and job satisfaction and performance. Based on the above evidences it is hypothesized that:

H2a: Sustainable Leadership is positively linked to employee task performance.

H2b: Sustainable Leadership is positively linked to employee contextual performance

H3: Sustainable Leadership moderates the relationship between SHRM practices and employee performance in such a way that this positive relationship is strengthened when sustainable leadership is high (vs. low).

#### 3. Method

### 3.1 Study design

To examine the relationship between SHRM practices and employee performance, and the moderating role of Sustainable leadership a quantitative research approach, i.e. structured, online survey was used in this study. This approach is suitable for hypothesis testing and assessing a relationship between clearly defined variables (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Furthermore, the data used was cross-sectional offering a picture of the present practices and perceptions in organizations regarding SHRM and leadership. An online questionnaire was employed due to their cost-effectiveness, scalability, and ability to reach a wide geography in a short period (Evans & Mathur, 2005). The increased digital literacy among the working professionals and flexibility offered by the online questionnaire further justified the use of online medium for the purpose of data collection (Regmi et al., 2016). To this end, Qualtrics was considered the appropriate tool for the data collection purpose due to its robust design capability and data security feature. Another advantage of online survey over face-to-face or paper-based surveys is their capability to reduce logistical and financial burdens. Additionally, it lets quick data consolidation and facilitates application of statistical software for consequent data analysis.

Regardless of the several benefits of the online method it is not without limitations. A downside of the method is lack of control over who completes the survey, that cause sample representativeness issues (Wrigt, 2005). Moreover, unlike qualitative interviews, online surveys don't provide any opportunity to clarify ambiguous responses or exploring participants reasoning in depth (Bryman, 2016). Despite these limitations of the online method, several measures were taken to enhance reliability and validity in the data collection process. To enhance content validity, instruments of the survey were developed based on well-established scales from the relevant existing literature. Before actual data collection a pretesting was performed to test the clarity and reliability of the questionnaire items. Participants were assured of the anonymity, and they were informed about the voluntary nature of their participation in the survey and possibility to withdraw at any time without facing any consequences. In this way ethical considerations were taken into account and an environment of confidence and trust was created. To get rigorous and generalizable insights that make study methodological sound a combination of a robust research design, established measurement tools, and a practical data collection strategy were used.

# 3.2 Sample and data collection

The target population of this study were employees working in different private organizations across various sectors in Pakistan. The employees were chosen as a target population because this study focuses on examining the perceived impact of SHRM practices on employee performance along with moderating role of sustainable leadership. Hence, employees are best suitable to provide direct

insights on the application and effectiveness of SHRM practices in their respective workplaces. The sample size of the study was determined through a power analysis using G power software. The minimum required sample size was estimated at approximately 100, to account for potential incomplete or inconsistent responses, a larger sample size was targeted. Eventually, a total of 145 responses were collected, out of which 129 were found valid after cleaning data and removing incomplete and inconsistent responses. Non-probability convenience sampling was deemed fit for this study, because this sampling approach is appropriate for the studies that require data from specific respondent with relevant knowledge or experience (Etikan et al., 2016).

Accordingly, an inclusion criterion was set, the participant for the survey needs to be full-time employee aged 18 years or above and having at least one year of work experience in that organization. The criterion was set to ensure that the respondents have adequate knowledge about the HRM practices and leadership dynamics in their organization. A non-probability convenience sampling technique was used, and participant were recruited primarily through the researcher's personal and professional network, including LinkedIn and academic contacts. This approach facilitated the collection of data from a diverse and relevant group of employees. To further improve diversity and representativeness, sample was drawn from multiple sectors, including banking, manufacturing, education, services and others. At the beginning of the questionnaire an introductory section about the purpose of the study, estimated time to complete, assurance of anonymity and confidentiality was provided. To comply with research ethics and protect respondent privacy no personal identifiers such as name, email address or contact details were collected. Participation in the survey was fully voluntarily, and an informed consent was also obtained.

The survey consists of four parts: (i) background information, (ii) item measuring SHRM practices, (iii) items relating to employee performance, and (iv) questions related to sustainable leadership. Except background section, all constructs were measured using a validated scale from previous studies, utilizing a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "Strongly disagree" to "strongly agree".

#### 3.3 Measures

#### 3.3.1. Control variables

In addition to the main variables of interest, a set of demographic variables were included in the regression model as control variables to account for their potential impact on employee performance. The selection of the control variables included in the regression analysis was done based on their theoretical and empirical relevance in prior research examining employee performance, HRM practices, and leadership (Guest, 1997; Jiang et al., 2012). The study specifically controlled for gender, age, education, job role, industry type, and work experience. The demographic data were gathered in the first section of the questionnaire. Age of the respondents' and their work experience in years were treated as ordinal variables, while the other variables were treated as nominal and were dummy coded for the regression analysis. One category was selected as a reference category, for each categorical variable, and binary dummy variables were created accordingly. The coding and reference categories are given below:

**Table 1.** Control variables and their coding scheme

Variables	Reference category	Other
Gender	Female	Male
Age	18-25	26-35, 36-45
<b>Educational Qualification</b>	Bachelor's Degree	Master, PhD, other
Job Position	Entry-Level	Mid-level, Senior-level,
		Executive
Industry Type	Services	Manufacturing, Public Sector,
		Not-for-profit
Work Experience	Less than a year	1-3 years, 4-6 years, 7+
		years

#### 3.3.2. Sustainable human resource management (SHRM) practices

Sustainable HRM practices construct was measured based on the scale developed by De Prins et al. (2020). Thus, our questions were adapted from previous studies those use 9-items to measure sustainable human resource management practices. The respondents were asked to state the extent to which they agree to following statements: "Jobs in this organization reflect what employees are good at and enjoy doing"; "Employees are largely able to manage their work independently"; "This organization genuinely cares about the well-being of its employees"; "Employees are rewarded fairly and equitably based on the effort they put into their work"; "The organization operates without unnecessary hierarchical levels"; "Decision-making in this organization is highly centralized"; "Bottom-up communication and employee voice are encouraged"; "Managers value and anticipate suggestions and ideas from employees"; "The

organization provides a wide range of training and learning opportunities for all employees". All these statements were ranked by the participants of the study on a 5-Likert scale, form 1 "strongly disagree" to 5 "strongly agree". Previous studies have shown the internal consistency of the scale to be highly reliable (Cronbach's Alpha > 0.85). In this study, the SHRM scale also demonstrated strong reliability with a Cronbach's Alpha of 0.872, substantiating its internal consistency.

#### 3.3.3. Employee performance

Employee performance was measured using a 23-item scale developed by Pradhan & Jena (2017), which measures individual task performance, adaptive performance, and contextual performance. This scale was used due to its wider range and empirical support. Sample items include: "I use to maintain high standard of work" and "I am capable of handling my assignments without much supervision" from task performance ( $\alpha$ =0.806); "I use to perform well to mobilize collective intelligence for effective teamwork" and I could manage change in my job very well whenever the situation demands" from adaptive performance ( $\alpha$ =0.523); "I used to extend help to my co-workers when asked or needed", "I love to handle extra responsibilities", and "I extend my sympathy and empathy to my co-workers when they are in trouble" from contextual performance ( $\alpha$ =0.839). This self-rated performance scale has been widely used in HRM studies and has higher reliability (Cronbach's alpha values exceeding 0.80).

# 3.3.4. Sustainable leadership

Sustainable leadership was measured using the scale developed by Iqbal et al. (2021) having 14items, which emphasize principles such as long-term orientation, staff development, ethical behavior, innovation, and social responsibility. The respondents were asked to show their agreement to following statements: "My organizational leadership acts in a sustainable socially responsible manner"; "My organizational leadership acts in a sustainable environmentally responsible manner"; "My organizational leadership acts in a sustainable ethically responsible manner"; "My organizational leadership's decisions are made while considering the entire organization"; "My organizational leadership's management officially recognizes when a mistake is made that affects sustainability"; "My organizational leadership is willing to correct mistakes that affect sustainability"; "My organizational leadership attempts to use unique innovative methods to resolve sustainability issues"; "My organizational leadership attempts to create wealth through sustainable efforts"; "My organizational leadership puts purpose before profit"; "My organizational leadership balances sustainable social responsibility with profits"; "My organizational leadership demonstrates sustainability by persevering through all types of changes"; "My organizational leadership is concerned how sustainability affects employees"; "My organizational leadership communicates sustainability decisions to all involved"; "My organizational leadership attempts to build a culture of sustainability through its communication effort". Respondents rated each statement on five-point Likert Scale (1= Strongly disagree to 5= Strongly agree). The Sustainable Leadership scale demonstrated an excellent internal consistency with a Cronbach's alpha=0.941.

The internal consistency of the measurement scales used in this study was assessed through Cronbach's alpha coefficients. The sustainable leadership scale showed excellent reliability ( $\alpha=0.941$ ) indicating that 14 items measuring the construct were highly consistent. The SHRM practices scale also demonstrated strong internal consistency ( $\alpha=0.872$ ). Likewise, task performance ( $\alpha=0.806$ ) and contextual performance ( $\alpha=0.839$ ) scales also showed good reliability. Only adaptive performance scale exhibited low reliability and yielded a Cronbach's alpha of 0.523. Consequently, adaptive performance was excluded from further analysis in following the recommended practices (De Vellis, 2017). Rest of the whole constructs showed a strong reliability, as a valued above 0.8 is considered good and above 0.90 as excellent (Nunnally and Bernstein, 1994). Hence, reliability analysis results confirmed that all scales used in this study are internally consistent and appropriate for further factor analysis and hypothesis testing, except adaptive performance. Next, the dimensional structure and construct validity of the main measurement instrument of the study for each variable was evaluated through Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA). As recommended by Hair et al. (2019) Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) measure and Bartlett's test of sphericity were employed to test sampling adequacy.

The SHRM practices scale demonstrated a good sampling adequacy (KMO= 0.861) and bartlett's test was significant (P<0.001), suggesting suitability for factor analysis. The theoretical expectation of a unified construct was supported by emergence of only one factor with an eigen value greater than 1. Similarly, sustainable leadership scale also exhibited excellent sample adequacy KMO=0.860, and a significant Bartllet's test p<0.001, indicating appropriateness for further factor analysis. Only one factor emerged as with eigen value above 1, verifying the unidimensionality of the construct. All 14 items strongly loaded on the one factor. Regarding dimension of employee performance, task performance scale showed strong sample adequacy and Bartllet's significance (KM =0.820, p<0.001). All the 5 items loaded strongly on one factor confirming unidimensionality of the construct. The contextual performance scale also yielded one factor solution (KMO=0.860, p<0.001). However, adaptive performance showed low sample adequacy (KMO=0.630), but Bartllet's test was significant (p<0.001), but the reliability of the construct was low ( $\alpha = 0.523$ ). Furthermore, EFA indicated low factor loadings as well, consequently, this construct was excluded from hypothesis testing, consistent with prior reliability findings.

Thus, the EFA results confirm the unidimensionality and construct validity of the retained constructs and support their use in composite score creation and regression analysis.

#### 3.4 Data analysis

The data of the study was analyzed through descriptive statistics, reliability, correlation, and regression analysis in IBB SPSS. To examine distribution properties of the variables descriptive statistics were computed, this provided insights into the variability of response across key constructs and central tendencies. After that, internal consistency of each construct was measured through Cronbach's alpha. A value of  $a \ge 0.70$  was considered acceptable for internal consistency of the construct a suggested by Nunnally & Bernstein (1994). Sustainable leadership, SHRM practices, Task performance, and contextual performance's constructs showed a strong reliability (a > 0.80), while

adaptive performance construct demonstrated low reliability (Cronbach's alpha of 0.52) and was excluded from further analysis. To examine the dimensional Structure of each construct exploratory factor analysis (EFA) was performed individually. EFA is suitable for exploring the factor structure Principal axis factoring with oblique rotation was used and the items having factor loadings less than 0.5 were removed. Kiaser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) measures of sample adequacy and Bartllet's test of sphericity were employed to evaluate the suitability of each dataset for factor analysis, and both tests indicated acceptable conditions for all retained constructs. Afterwards, composite scores were calculated by averaging the retained items of each construct. This approach has been recommended in a situation where individual items load on a single factor and when limitation of the sample size restrict use of latent variable modelling through confirmatory factor analysis (Hair et al., 2019). Therefore, composite scores were used in successive regression analyses.

To examine the relationship between all variables of the study, we used a correlation analysis. Afterwards, the hypotheses of study were tested using multiple and hierarchical regression analysis. The direct relationship between SHRM practices, Sustainable Leadership, and task and contextual performance were tested using multiple linear regression. Moderating effect of sustainable leadership was assessed using hierarchical regression, that allows the interaction term between SHRM practices and sustainable leadership to be entered after the main effects. Following Aiken and West (1991), to reduce multicollinearity all predictors involved in the interaction terms were meancentred. To examine the presence of moderation the significance of interaction terms was interpreted and changes in R-squared were observed to assess the improvement in model explanatory power when Interaction effects were added.

# 4. Results

#### 4.1 Descriptive results

We gathered total 145 responses, out of which 16 incomplete or inconsistent responses were dropped. A s a result 129 complete responses were retained for further analysis, resulting in a fairly large sample of respondents. Descriptive analysis of the sampled population is given in Table 2. Out of 129, 88 were identified as male making 68.2% of the sample, while females are 31.8% of the sampled population. Overall sample, has a balanced presentation of both genders, male being slightly more which also reflects workforce composition of Pakistan economy. the "age" was recorded in three groups, 18-25, 26-35, and 36-45. The first group (18-25 years old accounts for 23.2% of the sampled population, second group (26 to 35 years old) has most representation in the sampled population (62.80%), while the age group 36-45-year-old included 18 respondents making 14% of the total sample. Majority of the respondents reported Master level qualification (50.4%), second largest category have bachelor qualification (42.6%), while only 8% of the respondents reported PhD and 6% other qualifications.

Job position data showed that 43.4% of the respondents are at mid-level positions, while 32.6% are in senior-level roles. Entry-level employees accounted for 18.6% of the sampled population, while only 5.4% held executive roles. This distribution suggests that the majority of the sampled population held positions that have moderate to high levels of responsibilities. Industry-wise, most prevalent industry group among the respondents was services, representing 56.6% of the sample. The other groups like manufacturing, education, and public sector have 16.3%, 11.6%, and 11.6%, representation, accordingly. This demonstrates the findings are particularly relevant for services-bases organizations, btu still representing the perspective of the other sectors. Regarding respondents work experience at current organization, majority of them (40.3%) have been work experience of 1-3 years, second largest category (25.6%) is of those having work experience less than one year, followed by employee having experience of 4-6 years (18.6%), and more than 7 years (15.5%), indicating a predominantly mid-career sample.

**Table 2.** Descriptive analysis of the sampled population

Variables	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Gender		
Male	88	68.2
Female	41	31.8
Age (years)		
18-25	30	23.2
26-35	81	62.8
36-45	18	14.0
Qualification		
Bachelor	55	42.6
Master	65	50.4
PhD	1	8

Other	8	6.2
Job Position		
Entry Level	24	18.6
Mid-Level	56	43.4
Senior Level	42	32.6
Executive	7	5.4
Type of Industry		
Manufacturing	21	16.3
Services	73	56.6
Education	15	11.6
Public Sector	15	11.6
Non-profit	5	3.9
Work Experience (years)		
< 1	33	25.6
1-3	52	40.3
4-6	24	18.6
7+	20	15.5

Note: N=129

# 4.2 Correlational analysis

The results of correlational analysis are presented in Table 3. In order to check the association between independent (Sustainable HRM practices), dependent (dimensions of Employee performance), and moderating (Sustainable leadership) variables, multiple correlation was calculated. Sustainable HRM practices exhibited a significant positive correlation with sustainable leadership, Task performance, Adaptive performance, and contextual performance (r=0.550, p<0.01, r=0.26, p<0.01, r=0.44, p<0.01, and r=.32, p<0.01, respectively), indicating that sustainable HRM practices are positively associated with employee performance. Sustainable leadership also showed a significant positive correlation with adaptive performance (r=0.29, p<0.01), and contextual performance (r=0.26, p<0.01). While sustainable leadership was not found to be significantly correlated with task performance (0.16, p=0.11). overall, the correlation results reveal valuable insights regarding the relationship between all variables of the study.

**Table 3.** Means, standard deviations and correlations of study variables.

	Variable	Mean	SD	1	2	3	4	5
1.	Sustainable	49.21	1.044	1				
	Leadership							
2.	Task	24.34	3.13	.164	1			
	Performance							
3.	Adaptive	26.62	2.79	.29**	.49**	1		
	Performance							
4.	Context	40.74	4.43	.260**	.59**	.41**	1	
	Performance							

5.	Sustainable	35.38	6.78	.550**	.26*	.44**	.32**	1
	HRM Practices							

<sup>\*\*=</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

### 4.3 Hypothesis Testing

#### 4.3.1. Task performance

Prior to testing the main hypotheses, control variables (gender, job position, and work experience) were entered in the model. Control variables were selected based on prior literature indicating their relevance to employee performance outcomes. Furthermore, dummy variables were generated for each categorical variables, using female, entry-level, and <1 year of experience as the reference categories. These control variables were included to separate the effect of sustainable HRM practices and sustainable leadership on task performance.

The results of step-wise multiple regression analyses are given in Table 4. In step 1, control variables including gender, work experience, and Job position were entered. The model explained almost 7% of the variance in Task performance ( $R^2=0.074$ , p=.024). Being male ( $\beta=.13$ , p<.05), having work experience 4-6 years ( $\beta=.14$ , p<.05), were found to be significant predictors. In second step, main constructs (SHRM and SL) were added that resulted in increase in total variance explained to 17.2%. Both SHRM practices and Sustainable leadership demonstrated a significant positive relationship with task performance ( $\beta=.26$ , p<.01, and  $\beta=.21$ , p<.01, respectively), therefore supporting Hypothesis 1a and Hypothesis 2a. In the last step, the interaction term (SHRM x SL) was added to the model and results indicated that sustainable leadership positively moderates the relationship between sustainable HRM practices and task performance ( $\beta=.18$ , p<.05). Thus hypothesis 3 was supported based on these findings.

#### 4.3.2. Contextual performance as dependent variable

Same process was repeated with contextual performance as the dependent variable. The control variables explained 6.9% of the variance (R² = 0.069, p = .031) in the step 1. In this model, senior-level position ( $\beta$  = .15, p < .05) was found to be a significant predictor. In second step, after inclusion of SHRM and SL a substantial change in R² ( $\Delta$ R² = .111, p < .001) was observed, increasing total explained variance to 18.0%. The results revealed that both Sustainable HRM practices ( $\beta$  = .29, p < .01) and sustainable leadership ( $\beta$  = .22, p < .01) significant positive effects, lending further support to H1.a and H2.a in the context of contextual performance. In the last step, the interaction effect was also found to be significant ( $\beta$  = .16, p < .05), explaining an additional 2.5% of the variance. The final model explained 20.5% of the variance in contextual performance, providing strong support for H3.a and suggesting that the positive relationship between SHRM and contextual performance is strengthened in the presence of sustainable leadership.

Overall, the findings provide empirical support for all six hypotheses. Sustainable HRM practices and sustainable leadership independently contribute to enhancing employee performance (both task and

contextual), and sustainable leadership significantly moderates the relationship between sustainable HRM practices and employee performance.

Table 4. Hierarchical Regression Results

-	Model	Model 1 (Task Performance)			Model 2 (Contextual Performance)			
Control variables	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3		
	В (Ś.Е)	B (S.E)	В (Ś.Е)	В (S.E)	B (S.E)	B (S.E)		
Gender Male (ref.	0.13*	0.11*	0.11*	0.10	0.09 (0.06)	0.09		
female)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)		(0.06)		
Mid-level (ref. entry-	0.07	0.06 (0.07)	0.06	0.08	0.07 (0.07)	0.07		
level)	(0.07)		(0.07)	(0.07)		(0.07)		
Senior-level	0.16*	0.15*	0.15*	0.15*	0.14*	0.14*		
	(0.08)	(0.08)	(0.08)	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.07)		
Executive	0.12	0.11 (0.09)	0.11	0.11	0.09 (0.09)	0.09		
	(0.09)		(0.09)	(0.09)		(0.09)		
Work Experiences: 1-	0.09	0.08 (0.07)	0.08	0.10	0.09 (0.07)	0.09		
3 years (ref. <1	(0.07)		(0.07	(0.07)		(0.07)		
year)					>			
4-6 years	0.14*	0.12*	0.12*	0.12	0.11 (0.07)	0.11		
_	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.07)	0.44 (0.00)	(0.07)		
>7 years	0.11	0.10 (0.08)	0.10	0.13	0.11 (0.08)	0.11		
	(0.08)		(0.08)	(0.08)		(80.0)		
Main Constructs	,							
Sustainable HRM		0.26**	0.25**		0.29**	0.28**		
practices								
·		(0.07)	(0.07)		(0.07)	(0.07)		
Sustainable		0.21**	0.20**		0.22**	0.21**		
leadership		(0.07)	(0.07)		(0.07)	(0.07)		
Interaction Term								
Sustainable HRM			0.18*			0.16*		
Practices X			(0.07)			(0.07)		
Sustainable			( )			( )		
Leadership								
$R^2$	0.074	0.172	0.200	0.069	0.180	0.205		
$\Delta R^2$		0.098**	0.028*		0.111**	0.025*		
Note: * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001								

In summary, the results indicate the harmonious role of Sustainable HRM Practices and leadership practices in driving employee behavior. Though SHRM practices provide structural and motivational support, their effectiveness in converting into performance outcomes is conditional on the leadership climate. When leaders in the organization exhibit sustainable, ethical, and supportive behavior, HRM practices are more likely to be perceived as genuine and empowering, leading to better performance outcomes.

#### 5. Discussion

There has lately been a growing desire to know how sustainability can be practiced in Human Resource Management and during leadership. As firms are progressively pursuing long-term value creation and employee-focused strategies, the need for exploring there is now a clear link between sustainable HRM practices and how well employees do. This research was designed to examine the connection between Sustainable HRM and employee work outcomes and find out if this association gets improved when leaders are also sustainable. An online survey was conducted and responses were collected from 129 full time employee across different various sectors in Pakistan. By empirically testing how Sustainable HRM practices and sustainable leadership interact to shape employee's task performance and contextual performance, this study contributes to the growing literature on sustainable people and performance management. Drawing upon the Ability-Motivation-Opportunity framework, and conceptually guided by the normative ROC model (De Peins et al., 2014), the findings demonstrated that sustainable HRM practices are significantly linked to better results in both what is done and how it is done. In addition, it is shown that strong sustainable leadership reinforces the positive way sustainable HRM helps performance and supporting the hypothesized moderating effect.

The study showed that sustainable HRM and performing tasks successfully are closely linked. These findings are aligned with previous research indicating that human resource management systems that are sustainability centred, such as those emphasizing inclusivity, fairness, long-term development, and employee well-being, leads to employee motivation, engagement, and productivity (Aust et al., 2020; Guest, 2017). These practices are likely to foster employee capacity via training and skill development, enhance motivation through recognition and well-being initiatives, and create opportunities through employee involvement and autonomy, all these are consistent with the dimensions of AMO framework (Jiang et al., 2012).

A similar relationship of sustainable HRM practices was found with contextual performance, indicating that these practices can also promote behaviors that go beyond formal job descriptions. It suggests that when employees perceived that their organization employ sustainable HRM practices, they were more likely to report helping colleagues and volunteering for tasks. Furthermore, the findings reinforce the idea that sustainability centred HRM not only contributes to individual productivity but also to collective functioning of the workplace (Mujtaba & Cavico, 2013; Ehnert et al., 2016). Contextual performance has been viewed as critical in dynamic and collaborative organizational environments, and SHRM by creating a supportive and ethical work climate is seen as well suited.

Additionally, this study also found that sustainable leadership is significantly associated with both task and contextual performance. These findings indicate that when managers act in alignment with sustainability principles, employee tend to perform better. This effect was stronger with contextual performance, implying that leaders' ethical behavior and participatory style inspires prosocial behavior in employees. These findings are aligned with the literature describing that sustainable leadership promotes a culture of trust, shared purpose, and long-term commitment, that enhances

not only performance but also social cohesion with organization (Avery & Bergsteiner, 2011; Iqbal & Piwowar-Sulej, 2022). The findings are further aligned with the prior studies that values-based and sustainable leadership fosters intrinsic motivation, which is a strong predictor of discretionary behaviors (Iqbal & Piwowar-Sulej, 2022; Elkington & Brebbia, 2020).

Lastly statistically significant moderating role of sustainable leadership between the sustainable HRM practices and both dimensions of employee performance were found. This indicate that performance-enhancing effect of sustainable HRM practices are stronger when employees perceive their leaders as sustainability-oriented. The moderation results underscore the importance of leadership well-structured HRM policies may not translate into their full impact unless they are supported and reinforced by leaders. These findings are consistent with prior research underscoring the importance of alignment between HRM systems and leadership behavior (Browning, Jackman, & Gerbasi, 2020; Sousa & van Dierendonck, 2017). The moderation effect was more pronounced for contextual performance, suggesting that extra-role behaviors are more sensitive to the interpersonal and value-driven signals sent leadership (Podsakoff et al., 2009; Newman et al., 2020.

These results contribute to a deeper understanding of how sustainable HRM practices and sustainable leadership together impact employee outcomes. Together, these elements create what Purcell and Hutchinson (2007) referred to as a "positive HRM-performance chain," where the alignment between people practices and leadership amplifies employee effectiveness. While prior studies have worked on to investigate these constructs independently, present study provides fresh empirical evidence for their combined effect and interactive potential. It proposes that neither sustainable HRM practices nor leadership alone is sufficient, it is their synergy that creates an amplified effect on employee behavior. This synergy confirms the underlying assumptions of the ROC model, that for a meaningful outcomes, respect, openness, and continuity must be embedded both in policy and practice. By validating all the hypotheses, this study provides theoretical support to the AMO framework and its application within a sustainability context. It validates that employee abilities, motivation, and opportunities can be developed through sustainable HRM; however, their impact is contingent on contextual support from leadership.

#### 5.1 Theoretical and managerial implications

This study provides multiple important theoretical implications. First, by exploring the direct relationship of sustainable HRMs with employee performance and its interactive effect, it contributes to the growing literature on the subject. Though, the literature has linked sustainable human resource management to organizational-level outcomes (Aust et al., 2020; Guerci et al., 2022), present study advances this work by emphasizing on the employee level and identifying task and contextual performance as key outcomes. This pivot allows for a better understanding of how sustainability-driven HRM policies translate into individual behavioral outcomes, and highlights the relevance of SHRM in day-t-day work practices. This study contributes to the theoretical advancement of sustainable HRM by extending the AMO framework into the field of sustainability. Though, AMO framework has been widely used in traditional human resource research, its application to sustainable HRM practices is underdeveloped. The results of this study indicate that HRM initiative

such as training and development (ability), well-being and recognition (motivation), and participative decision making and autonomy (opportunity), when aligned with sustainability, may jointly enhance employee performance. This fortifies the AMO model's relevance as a guiding framework for understanding sustainable HRM practices-employee performance relationship. Though the present study did not directly test the three dimensions of AMO, the alignment between sustainable HRM practices and improved performance outcomes suggest that the AMO lens is empirical valuable for structuring SHRM interventions in organizations seeking long-term value creation.

Secondly, this study contributed by integrating sustainable leadership into the sustainable HRM practices-employee performance framework, both as a predictor of employee performance and as a moderating variable influencing the effectiveness of sustainable HRM practices on employee outcomes. The findings of the study support Social Exchange theory's view, by exhibiting that sustainable leadership is not only directly associated with employee performance but also strengthens employee performance relationship with sustainable HRM practices. According to SET, when leaders demonstrate ethical conduct, long-term vision, and care for employee well-being, employee are more likely to reciprocate this behavior by enhance performance. In this way, this study extends the use of Set in the field of sustainability and strengthens the conceptual integration of HRM practices and leadership.

Previously, sustainable leadership has been studied in isolation (Iqbal & Piwowar-Sulej, 2022), however, findings of this study contribute to the growing body of literature that emphasizes the importance of aligning HRM systems with leadership behavior. This study offers empirical support to the idea that leadership can shape employee response to HRM initiatives by studying the moderating role of sustainable leadership in the sustainable HRM practices and employee performance relationship. The findings are consistent with the calls from researchers such as Leroy et al. (2018), who recommended for an integrated approach to studying HRM and leadership, acknowledging that their joint effects are stronger than when considered in isolation. The results extend the theoretical understanding by demonstrating that sustainable leadership acts as a situational amplifier, strengthening the effectiveness of SHRM systems in delivering positive employee outcomes. This also fortifies the idea that congruence between leadership values and HRM practices is vital for promoting sustainability-driven performance improvements.

Concerning managerial implications, the findings underscore the significance of implementing HRM practices that are not only performance-driven but also sustainability-oriented. Organizations aiming to improve both task efficiency and prosocial behavior among employees must ensure that their HR systems support long-term well-being, learning, autonomy, and fairness. Managers should prioritize policies that produce inclusive, engaging, and ethically grounded work environments. Importantly, sustainable HRM practices should not be treated in isolation, rather as part of integrated strategy aligned with leadership values. The study also highlights the crucial role of leadership in the effective implementation of sustainable HRM. Though policies provide structure, basically it is leader behavior that determines whether employees perceive those policies as authentic and supportive. Leaders those exhibit sustainability principles are more likely to motivate employee to adopt behavior that

benefit both organization and society. Therefore, managers should be trained and encouraged to internalize sustainability values and utilize them into everyday decisions and interactions with staff.

Additionally, interaction effect indicates that simply introducing sustainability practices may not be enough to enhance performance. So, manager should ensure that their leadership approach is perceived as aligned with these practices. This require promoting transparency, bottom-up communications, and maintaining a developmental focus in leadership. Finally, in organizational setting like Pakistan and similar developing countries, where organizational systems are less formalized, the strategic alignment between sustainable HRM and sustainable leadership is even more important. This study offers a template for how sustainable practices and leadership can be combined to address challenges of retention, engagement and performance in resource-constrained environments. In such context, managers can leverage sustainable HRM and sustainable leadership not only as compliance tools, but as strategic levers to create resilient, motivated, and high performing workforce.

#### 5.2 Conclusion, limitations and future research

This study contributes to growing body of literature on sustainable people management practices by examining the combine influence of sustainable HRM practices and sustainable leadership on employee performance. We conceptualized and empirical tested the hypothesized relationship between sustainable HRM practices and dimensions of employee performance (task and conceptual) and explored the moderating role of sustainable leadership drawing upon the AMO framework. The study population was drawn from 129 employees working in diverse sector across Pakistan, reflecting a range of industries, job roles, and experience levels. The results reveal that sustainable HRM practices is positively associated with both task and contextual performance, confirming the role of sustainability oriented HRM in supporting individual employee outcomes. Additionally, sustainable leadership was also found to be positively associated with higher levels of performance, especially contextual performance. Notably, moderation analysis indicated that the presence of strong sustainable leadership enhanced the effectiveness of sustainable HRM practices in fostering employee performance. These findings provide valuable guidelines on how organizations can align people management and leadership strategies to promote both operational excellence and socially responsible workplace behaviors.

Despite several contributions, this study has several limitations. One key limitation of the study is cross-sectional nature of the data, which limits our ability to draw causal conclusions. While the findings suggest associations between variables, future longitudinal studies are needed to assess how Sustainable HRM practices and leadership can influence over-time performance outcomes. Moreover, while the conceptual framework was grounded in established theories such as AMO framework and supported by the past empirical work, it mainly relied on self-reported data. Future studies can operationalize and test theory driven mediators such as A, M, and O, to more explicitly investigate the mechanism through which sustainable HRM practices influence employee outcomes. This may introduce common method bias and the potential for overblown relationships due to social desirability effects or self-perception errors. One more limitation is the constrained generalizability

of the sample. Although the participants were from diverse industries and job levels, the study was focused on single country with specific cultural and institutional dynamics. Future studies can extend this work by conducting comparative cross-cultural studies to investigate whether the relationships observed here hold true in different national or regional contexts. For example, exploring sustainable HRM practices and sustainable leadership in countries with stronger institutional frameworks for sustainability.

Furthermore, while this study incorporated Sustainable Leadership as a moderator, other potential moderators and mediators remain underexplored. Future research could explore whether constructs such as organizational climate, psychological empowerment, or employee engagement further influence the Sustainable HRM-performance relationship. Exploring these variables would allow researchers to unearth the fundamental mechanisms that enlighten how sustainable practices translate into employee-level outcomes. Additionally, the reliability of one subscale of employee performance (adaptive performance) was significantly lower than others, despite being based on an existing validated scale. Though adaptive performance was not the principal dependent variable in this study, this limitation suggests the need for future studies to re-examine or refine the measurement of this construct, mainly in non-Western contexts where certain performance dimensions may be interpreted differently. Another methodological limitation is related to sample size in the context of item-to-response ratio. While the sample size was consistent with the minimum recommendations provided by power analysis, a larger sample could improve the generalizability and robustness of results. This is mainly relevant when multiple predictors and moderators are involved, which can increase the intricacy of the model.

In conclusion, this study shows that integrating sustainability in HRM practices and leadership is not only ethically and socially desirable but also functionally effective in enhancing employee performance. However, enhancing this influence requires strategic alignment between HRM practices and leadership behaviors. Future researchers are encouraged to build upon this foundation, exploring other contextual, cultural, and psychological variables that shape the influence of Sustainable HRM and sustainable leadership in diverse organizational settings. Such kind of efforts will not only improve theoretical models of sustainable management but also support practitioners in designing human-centred, sustainability-aligned organizations that deliver both performance and purpose.

## References

Accenture. (2020). Seeking responsible leadership.

Aiken, L. S., & West, S. G. (1991). Multiple regression: Testing and interpreting interactions. Sage.

Al-Swidi, A. K., Mohd Nawawi, M. K., & Al-Hosam, A. (2012). Is the relationship between employees' psychological empowerment and employees' job satisfaction contingent on the transformational leadership? A study on the Yemeni Islamic banks. Asian Social Science, 8(10), 130–150.

Amjad, F., Abbas, W., Zia-Ur-Rehman, M., Baig, S. A., Hashim, M., Khan, A., & Rehman, H. U. (2021). Effect of green human resource management practices on organizational sustainability: The mediating role of environmental and employee performance. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 28, 28191–28206.

Appelbaum, E. (2000). Manufacturing advantage: Why high-performance work systems pay off. Cornell University Press.

Arthur, J. B. (1994). Effects of human resource systems on manufacturing performance and turnover. Academy of Management Journal, 37(3), 670–687.

Aust, I., Matthews, B., & Muller-Camen, M. (2020). Common good HRM: A paradigm shift in sustainable HRM? Human Resource Management Review, 30(3), 100705.

Avery, G. C., & Bergsteiner, H. (2011). Sustainable leadership practices for enhancing business resilience and performance. Strategy & Leadership, 39(3), 5–15.

Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Psychological Review, 84(2), 191–215.

Barney, J. (1991). Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage. Journal of Management, 17(1), 99–120.

Beer, M., Boselie, P., & Brewster, C. (2015). Back to the future: Implications for the field of HRM of the multi-stakeholder perspective proposed 30 years ago. Human Resource Management, 54(3), 427–438.

Blau, P. M. (1964). Justice in social exchange. Sociological Inquiry, 34(2), 193–206.

Boudreau, J. W., & Ramstad, P. M. (2005). Talentship, talent segmentation, and sustainability: A new HR decision science paradigm for a new strategy definition. Human Resource Management, 44(2), 129–136.

Boxall, P., Purcell, J., & Wright, P. M. (2007). Human resource management: Scope, analysis and significance. In P. Boxall, J. Purcell, & P. M. Wright (Eds.), The Oxford handbook of human resource management (pp. 1–6). Oxford University Press.

Brown, M. E., Treviño, L. K., & Harrison, D. A. (2005). Ethical leadership: A social learning perspective for construct development and testing. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 97(2), 117–134.

Bryman, A. (2016). Social research methods (5th ed.). Oxford University Press.

Burawat, P. (2019). The relationships among transformational leadership, sustainable leadership, lean manufacturing and sustainability performance in Thai SMEs manufacturing industry. International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 36(6), 1014–1036. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-09-2017-0178

Campbell, D. J. (2000). The proactive employee: Managing workplace initiative. Academy of Management Perspectives, 14(3), 52–66.

Carpini, J. A., Parker, S. K., & Griffin, M. A. (2017). A look back and a leap forward: A review and synthesis of the individual work performance literature. Academy of Management Annals, 11(2), 825–885.

Charbonnier-Voirin, A., & Roussel, P. (2012). Adaptive performance: A new scale to measure individual performance in organizations. Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences/Revue Canadienne des Sciences de l'Administration, 29(3), 280–293.

Cheng, J. W., Chang, S. C., Kuo, J. H., & Cheung, Y. H. (2014). Ethical leadership, work engagement, and voice behavior. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 114(5), 817–831.

Chiu, A. (2022, September 16). 5 things to know about Patagonia's unusual history of activism. The Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/climatesolutions/2022/09/15/patagonia-chouinard-environmental-activism-climate/

Choi, J., Kim, H., Kim, Y., Kim, J., & Kim, S. (2016). Supporting the measurement of the United Nations' sustainable development goal 11 through the use of national urban information systems and open geospatial technologies: A case study of South Korea. Open Geospatial Data, Software and Standards, 1(1), 1–9.

Cohen, E., Taylor, S., & Muller-Camen, M. (2012). HRM's role in corporate social and environmental sustainability. World Federation of People Management Associations (WFPMA).

Collings, D. G., Wood, G. T., & Szamosi, L. T. (Eds.). (2019). Human resource management (2nd ed.). Routledge.

Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (5th ed.). Sage Publications.

Crous, C., Battisti, E., & Leonidou, E. (2022). Non-financial reporting and company financial performance: A systematic literature review and integrated framework. EuroMed Journal of Business, 17(4), 652–676

Dalati, S., Raudeliûnienë, J., & Davidavièienë, V. (2017). Sustainable leadership, organizational trust on job satisfaction: Empirical evidence from higher education institutions in Syria. Business, Management and Economics Engineering, 15(1), 14–27. https://doi.org/10.3846/bme.2017.360

De Prins, P., Van Beirendonck, L., De Vos, A., & Segers, J. (2014). Sustainable HRM: Bridging theory and practice through the R(espect) O(penness) C(ontinuity)–Model. Management Revue, 25(4), 263–284.

Desai, H., & Donovan, J. (2022, December 16). SAP social sabbatical: Resiliency and impact in action. SAP News Center. https://news.sap.com/2022/12/sap-socialsabbatical-resiliency-and-impact-in-action/

Deutsche Bank. (2012). Sustainable investing: Establishing long-term value and performance (by Fulton, M., Kahn, B., & Sharples, C.). DB Climate Change Advisors, Deutsche Bank Group.

Devanna, M. A., Fombrun, C., & Tichy, N. (1981). Human resources management: A strategic perspective. Organizational Dynamics, 9(3), 51–67.

DeVellis, R. F. (2017). Scale development: Theory and applications (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.

Díaz-Carrion, R., López-Fernández, M., & Romero-Fernández, P. M. (2018). Developing a sustainable HRM system from a contextual perspective. Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management, 25(6), 1143–1153. https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1528

Do, A., Chang, C., & Frederick, D. A. (2024). Social exchange theory. In T. K. Shackelford (Ed.), Encyclopedia of sexual psychology and behavior. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08956-5\_2509-1

Dumont, J., Shen, J., & Deng, X. (2017). Effects of green HRM practices on employee workplace green behavior: The role of psychological green climate and employee green values. Human Resource Management, 56(4), 613–627.

Dyllick, T., & Hockerts, K. (2002). Beyond the business case for corporate sustainability. Business Strategy and the Environment, 11(2), 130–141. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.323

Dyllick, T., & Muff, K. (2016). Clarifying the meaning of sustainable business: Introducing a typology from business-as-usual to true business sustainability. Organization & Environment, 29(2), 156–174.

Ehnert, I. (2009). Sustainable human resource management: A conceptual and exploratory analysis from a paradox perspective.

Ehnert, I., Harry, W., & Zink, K. J. (Eds.). (2014). Sustainability and human resource management: Developing sustainable business organizations. Springer.

Elkington, J. (1997). Cannibals with forks: The triple bottom line of 21st century business. John Wiley and Sons.

Elkington, J. (2004). Enter the triple bottom line. In A. Henriques & J. Richardson (Eds.), The triple bottom line: Does it all add up? (1st ed.).

Emas, R. (2015). The concept of sustainable development: Definition and defining principles. Florida International University. Brief for GSDR 2015.

Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics, 5(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11

Evans, J. R., & Mathur, A. (2005). The value of online surveys. Internet Research, 15(2), 195–219. https://doi.org/10.1108/10662240510590360

Fabrigar, L. R., Wegener, D. T., MacCallum, R. C., & Strahan, E. J. (1999). Evaluating the use of exploratory factor analysis in psychological research. Psychological Methods, 4(3), 272–299. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.4.3.272

Fiedler, F. E. (1967). A theory of leadership effectiveness. McGraw-Hill.

Gahlawat, N., & Kundu, S. C. (2021). Exploring the connection between socially responsible HRM and citizenship behavior of employees in Indian context. Journal of Indian Business Research, 13(1), 78–91.

Gerard, L., McMillan, J., & D'Annunzio-Green, N. (2017). Conceptualising sustainable leadership. Industrial and Commercial Training, 49(3), 116–126.

Giraldo-Giraldo, C., Rubio-Andrés, M., Rave-Gómez, E. D., & Gutiérrez-Broncano, S. (2025). Evolution of the concept and scientific mapping of sustainable human resource management S-(HRM). Administrative Sciences, 15(2), 39.

Guerci, M., Longoni, A., & Luzzini, D. (2016). Translating stakeholder pressures into environmental performance: The mediating role of green HRM practices. The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 27(2), 262–289.

Guest, D. E. (1997). Human resource management and performance: A review and research agenda. International Journal of Human Resource Management, 8(3), 263–276.

Guest, D. E. (2017). Human resource management and employee well-being: Towards a new analytic framework. Human Resource Management Journal, 27(1), 22–38. Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2010). *Multivariate data analysis* (7th ed.). Prentice Hall.

Hargreaves, A., & Fink, D. (2011). Succeeding leaders: Supply and demand. In Principals in succession: Transfer and rotation in educational administration (pp. 11–26).

Hargreaves, A., & Fink, D. (2012). Sustainable leadership (Vol. 6). John Wiley & Sons.

Hirsig, N., Rogovsky, N., & Elkin, M. (2014). Enterprise sustainability and HRM in small and medium-sized enterprises. In I. Ehnert, W. Harry, & K. Zink (Eds.), Sustainability and human resource management (pp. 127–152). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-37524-8\_8

Hoogendoorn, B., Guerra, D., & Van Der Zwan, P. (2015). What drives environmental practices of SMEs? Small Business Economics, 44(4), 759–781. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-014-9618-9

Huselid, M. A. (1995). The impact of human resource management practices on turnover, productivity, and corporate financial performance. Academy of Management Journal, 38(3), 635–672. https://doi.org/10.5465/256741

IBM Institute for Business Value. (2021a). What employees expect in 2021. https://www.ibm.com/thought-leadership/institute-business-value/report/employee-expectations-2021

Iqbal, Q., & Piwowar-Sulej, K. (2022). Sustainable leadership, environmental turbulence, resilience, and employees' wellbeing in SMEs. Frontiers in Psychology, 13, 939389. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.939389

Iqbal, Q., Ahmad, N. H., & Halim, H. A. (2020). How does sustainable leadership influence sustainable performance? Empirical evidence from selected ASEAN countries. SAGE Open, 10(4), 2158244020969394. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020969394

ISTAT. (2019). Rapporto sulla competitività dei settori produttivi (Ed. 2018). https://www.istat.it/it/archivio/232962

Jabbour, C. J. C., & de Sousa Jabbour, A. B. L. (2016). Green human resource management and green supply chain management: Linking two emerging agendas. Journal of Cleaner Production, 112, 1824–1833. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.01.052

Jabbour, C. J. C., Teixeira, A. A., Oliveira, J. H. C. D., & Soubihia, D. F. (2010). Managing environmental training in organizations: Theoretical review and proposal of a model. Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal, 21(6), 830–844. https://doi.org/10.1108/14777831011077673

Jamali, D. R., El Dirani, A. M., & Harwood, I. A. (2015). Exploring human resource management roles in corporate social responsibility: The CSR-HRM co-creation model. Business Ethics: A European Review, 24(2), 125–143. https://doi.org/10.1111/beer.12085

Janssen, O. (2000). Job demands, perceptions of effort–reward fairness and innovative work behaviour. Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology, 73(3), 287–302. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317900167038

Järlström, M., Saru, E., & Vanhala, S. (2018). Sustainable human resource management with salience of stakeholders: A top management perspective. Journal of Business Ethics, 152, 703–724. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3310-8

Javed, A., Iqbal, J., Iqbal, S. M. J., & Imran, M. (2020). Sustainable leadership and employee innovative behavior: Discussing the mediating role of creative self-efficacy. Journal of Public Affairs, 21, e2547. https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2547

Jerome, S. (2013). A study on quality of work life of employees at Jeppiaar Cement Private Ltd: Perambalur. International Journal of Advance Research in Computer Science and Management Studies, 1(4).

Jiang, K., Lepak, D. P., Hu, J., & Baer, J. C. (2012). How does human resource management influence organizational outcomes? A meta-analytic investigation of mediating mechanisms. Academy of Management Journal, 55(6), 1264–1294. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2011.0088

Joseph-Armstrong, T. (2023). Leadership's impact on employee work motivation and performance (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University). https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/13552

Kantabutra, S., & Thepha-Aphiraks, T. (2016). Sustainable leadership and consequences at Thailand's Kasikornbank. International Journal of Business Innovation and Research, 11(3), 253–273. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJBIR.2016.077989

Koopmans, L., Bernaards, C. M., Hildebrandt, V. H., Schaufeli, W. B., de Vet, H. C. W., & Van Der Beek, A. J. (2011). Conceptual frameworks of individual work performance: A systematic review. Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 53(8), 856–866. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.0b013e318226a763

Kramar, R. (2014). Beyond strategic human resource management: Is sustainable human resource management the next approach? The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 25(8), 1069–1089. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2013.816863

Latapí Agudelo, M. A., Jóhannsdóttir, L., & Davídsdóttir, B. (2019). A literature review of the history and evolution of corporate social responsibility. International Journal of Corporate Social Responsibility, 4(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40991-018-0039-y

Lawrence, J., Rasche, A., & Kenny, K. (2019). Sustainability as opportunity: Unilever's sustainable living plan. In N. C. Smith & G. G. Lenssen (Eds.), Managing sustainable business: An executive education case and textbook (pp. 439–459). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1144-7\_21

Lee, C. C., Lin, Y. C., Chen, W. L., & Peng, S. W. (2017). Impacts of human resources management innovations on productivity and effectiveness in a medium-size non-profit organization. Global Journal of Management and Marketing, 1(1), 51–61.

Lee, H.-W. (2019). How does sustainability-oriented human resource management work? Examining mediators on organizational performance. International Journal of Public Administration, 42(11), 974–984. https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2019.1568459

Leyens, P. C. (2018). Corporate social responsibility in European Union law: Foundations, developments, enforcement. In J. du Plessis, U. Varottil, & J. Veldman (Eds.), Globalisation of

corporate social responsibility and its impact on corporate governance (pp. 155–175). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69128-2\_9

Liang, X., & Li, J. (2024). Sustainable human resource management and employee performance: A conceptual framework and research agenda. Human Resource Management Review, 34(2), 101060. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2023.101060

Liao, Y. (2022). Sustainable leadership: A literature review and prospects for future research. Frontiers in Psychology, 13, 1045570. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1045570

Lin, L. (2020). Mandatory corporate social responsibility legislation around the world: Emergent varieties and national experiences. The American Journal of Comparative Law, 68(3), 576–615. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcl/avaa018

Lu, Y., Zhang, M. M., Yang, M. M., & Wang, Y. (2023). Sustainable human resource management practices, employee resilience, and employee outcomes: Toward common good values. Human Resource Management, 62(3), 331–353. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.22117">https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.22117</a>

Ma Prieto, I., & Pérez-Santana, M. P. (2014). Managing innovative work behavior: The role of human resource practices. Personnel Review, 43(2), 184–208. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-11-2012-0199

Maak, T., & Pless, N. M. (2006). Responsible leadership: A relational approach. In Responsible leadership (pp. 33–53). Routledge.

Macke, J., & Genari, D. (2019). Systematic literature review on sustainable human resource management. Journal of Cleaner Production, 208, 806–815.

Manzoor, F., Wei, L., Bányai, T., Nurunnabi, M., & Subhan, Q. A. (2019). An examination of sustainable HRM practices on job performance: An application of training as a moderator. Sustainability, 11(8), 2263. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11082263

McKinsey. (2017). Attracting and retaining the right talent (S. Keller, Ed.).

Meadows, D. H., Meadows, D. L., Randers, J., & Berens, W. W., III. (1972). The limits to growth (1st ed.). Potomac Associates.

Metcalf, L., & Benn, S. (2013). Leadership for sustainability: An evolution of leadership ability. Journal of Business Ethics, 112(3), 369–384. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-012-1278-6

Mohrman, S. A., Shani, A. B. R., & Worley, C. G. (2016). Organizing supply chain processes for sustainable innovation in the agri-food industry: Introduction to the volume. In Organizing supply chain processes for sustainable innovation in the agri-food industry (Vol. 5, pp. xiii–xvi). Emerald Group Publishing.

Hassaan, M., & Bibi, S. (2023). Impact of sustainable human resource management practices on employees' professional development. Journal of Human Resource Management, 11(2), 57–65. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.jhrm.20231102.13

Nagi, S., Ishaq, H. M., & Malik, S. A. (2024). Impact of green human resource management practices on sustainable performance and employee performance: Empirical evidence from Pakistani telecom sector. Journal of Business and Management Research, 3(3), 425–445.

Ng, E. S., & Burke, R. J. (2010). Predictor of business students' attitudes toward sustainable business practices. Journal of Business Ethics, 95, 603–615.

Nicolò, G., et al. (2023). Revealing the corporate contribution to Sustainable Development Goals through integrated reporting: A worldwide perspective. Social Responsibility Journal, 19(5), 829–857.

Nunnally, J. C., & Bernstein, I. H. (1994). Psychometric theory (3rd ed.). McGraw-Hill.

Obedgiu, V. (2017). Human resource management, historical perspectives, evolution and professional development. Journal of Management Development, 36(8), 986–990.

Piwowar-Sulej, K. (2021). Core functions of sustainable human resource management: A hybrid literature review with the use of H-Classics methodology. Sustainable Development, 29(4), 671–686.

Pulakos, E. D., Arad, S., Donovan, M. A., & Plamondon, K. E. (2000). Adaptability in the workplace: Development of a taxonomy of adaptive performance. Journal of Applied Psychology, 85(4), 612–624.

Rauch, A., Frese, M., & Sonnentag, S. (2000). Cultural differences in planning–success relationships: A comparison of small enterprises in Ireland, West Germany, and East Germany. Journal of Small Business Management, 38(4), 28–41.

Regmi, P. R., Waithaka, E., Paudyal, A., Simkhada, P., & Van Teijlingen, E. (2016). Guide to the design and application of online questionnaire surveys. Nepal Journal of Epidemiology, 6(4), 640–644. https://doi.org/10.3126/nje.v6i4.17258

Renwick, D. W., Jabbour, C. J., Muller-Camen, M., Redman, T., & Wilkinson, A. (2016). Contemporary developments in green (environmental) HRM scholarship. The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 27(2), 114–128.

Saha, R., Shashi, Cerchione, R., Singh, R., & Dahiya, R. (2020). Effect of ethical leadership and corporate social responsibility on firm performance: A systematic review. Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management, 27(2), 409–429.

Samant, S. M., & Sangle, S. (2016). A selected literature review on the changing role of stakeholders as value creators. World Journal of Science, Technology and Sustainable Development, 13(2), 100–119.

Scouarnec, A. (2005). Le DRH de demain: Esquisse d'une rétro-prospective de la fonction RH. Management et Avenir, 2(4), 111–138.

Sheehan, M. (2014). Human resource management and performance: Evidence from small and medium-sized firms. International Small Business Journal, 32(5), 545–570.

Shen, J., & Benson, J. (2016). When CSR is a social norm: How socially responsible human resource management affects employee work behavior. Journal of Management, 42(6), 1723–1746.

Shen, J., & Zhu, C. J. (2011). Effects of socially responsible human resource management on employee organizational commitment. The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 22(15), 3020–3035.

Singh, S. K., Gupta, S., Busso, D., & Kamboj, S. (2019). Top management knowledge value, knowledge sharing practices, open innovation and organisational performance. Journal of Business Research. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.04.040

Stahl, G. K., et al. (2020). Enhancing the role of human resource management in corporate sustainability and social responsibility: A multi-stakeholder, multidimensional approach to HRM. Human Resource Management Review, 30(3), 100708.

Stankevičiūtė, Ž., & Savanevičienė, A. (2018). Designing sustainable HRM: The core characteristics of emerging field. Sustainability, 10(12), 4798.

Suriyankietkaew, S., & Avery, G. (2016). Sustainable leadership practices driving financial performance: Empirical evidence from Thai SMEs. Sustainability, 8(4), 327. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8040327

Suriyankietkaew, S., & Avery, G. C. (2014). Employee satisfaction and sustainable leadership practices in Thai SMEs. Journal of Global Responsibility, 5(2), 160–173. https://doi.org/10.1108/JGR-02-2014-0003

Sverke, M., Låstad, L., Hellgren, J., Richter, A., & Näswall, K. (2019). A meta-analysis of job insecurity and employee performance: Testing temporal aspects, rating source, welfare regime, and union density as moderators. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 16(14), 2536.

Viswesvaran, C., & Ones, D. S. (2000). Perspectives on models of job performance. International Journal of Selection and Assessment, 8(4), 216–226.

World Commission on Environment and Development (WCED). (1987). Our common future. Oxford University Press.

Wikhamn, W. (2019). Innovation, sustainable HRM and customer satisfaction. International Journal of Hospitality Management, 76, 102–110.

Wright, K. B. (2005). Researching internet-based populations: Advantages and disadvantages of online survey research. Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication, 10(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-6101.2005.tb00259.x

Wright, P. M., Dunford, B. B., & Snell, S. A. (2001). Human resources and the resource-based view of the firm. Journal of Management, 27(6), 701–721.

Zaugg, R. J., Thom, N., & Blum, A. (2001). Nachhaltiges Personalmanagement: Spitzengruppenbefragung in europäischen Unternehmungen und Institutionen. Institut für Organisation und Personal.

Zhao, H., Zhou, Q., He, P., & Jiang, C. (2021). How and when does socially responsible HRM affect employees' organizational citizenship behaviors toward the environment? Journal of Business Ethics, 169, 371–385.

Zientara, P., & Zamojska, A. (2018). Green organizational climates and employee pro-environmental behaviour in the hotel industry. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 26(7), 1142–1159.

## Appendix:

## Model of questionnaire:

### **Section 1: Background Information**

I.	Age (years):	
	1)	18-25
	2)	26–35
	3)	36-45
	4)	46-55
	5)	56+
II.	Gender: □ Male □ Female □ Other	
III.	Educational Qualification: $\square$ Bachelor's $\square$ Master's $\square$ PhD $\square$ Other	
IV.	Job Position: $\square$ Entry-Level $\square$ Mid-Level $\square$ Senior-Level $\square$ Executive	
V.	What industry does your organization belong to?	
		1. Manufacturing
		2. Services (e.g., IT, finance, healthcare)
		3. Education
		4. Government/Public Sector
		5. Non-Profit
		6. Other (please specify):
VI.	How long h	ave you been working at your organization?
$\square$ Less than 1 year $\square$ 1-3 years $\square$ 4-6 years $\square$ 7+ years		
Sustainable Leadership		

# S

The next question concerns the degree to which the leadership (so, in general) in your organization is concerned with sustainability. Please answer the following statements on a scale that ranges from (Strongly Disagree) to 5 (Strongly Agree).

- 1. My organizational leadership acts in a sustainable socially responsible manner
- 2. My organizational leadership acts in a sustainable environmentally responsible manner.
- 3. My organizational leadership acts in a sustainable ethically responsible manner.
- 4. My organizational leadership's decisions are made while considering the entire organization
- 5. My organizational leadership's management officially recognizes when a mistake is made that affects sustainability
- 6. My organizational leadership is willing to correct mistakes that affect sustainability

- 7. My organizational leadership attempts to use unique innovative methods to resolve sustainability issues.
- 8. My organizational leadership attempts to create wealth through sustainable efforts
- 9. My organizational leadership puts purpose before profit.
- 10. My organizational leadership balances sustainable social responsibility with profits
- 11. My organizational leadership demonstrates sustainability by persevering through all types of changes
- 12. My organizational leadership is concerned how sustainability affects employees
- 13. My organizational leadership communicates sustainability decisions to all involved.
- 14. My organizational leadership attempts to build a culture of sustainability through its communication effort

## **Employee Performance:**

The next questions concerns your own performance (Task Performance 1-6 & Adaptive performance 7-14) as an employee in your organization. Please respond to the following statements based on your personal experience, using a scale that ranges from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 5 (Strongly Agree)

#### **Task Performance**

- 1. I use to maintain high standard of work
- 2. I am capable of handling my assignments without much supervision
- 3. I am very passionate about my work
- 4. I know I can handle multiple assignments for achieving organizational goals
- 5. I use to complete my assignments on time
- 6. My colleagues believe I am a high performer in my organization

#### **Adaptive Performance**

- 1. I use to perform well to mobilize collective intelligence for effective teamwork
- 2. I could manage change in my job very well whenever the situation demands
- 3. I can handle effectively my work team in the face of change
- 4. I always believe that mutual understanding can lead to a viable solution in the organization
- 5. I use to lose my temper when faced with criticism from my team members
- 6. I am very comfortable with job flexibility
- 7. I use to cope well with organizational changes from time to time

The following questions are about your performance(Contextual Performance) as an employee in your organization. Please respond to the following statements based on your personal experience, using a scale that ranges from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 5 (Strongly Agree).

#### **Contextual Performance**

1. I used to extend help to my co-workers when asked or needed

- 2. I love to handle extra responsibilities
- 3. I extend my sympathy and empathy to my co-workers when they are introuble
- 4. I actively participate in group discussions and work meetings
- 5. I use to praise my co-workers for their good work
- 6. I derive a lot of satisfaction nurturing others in the organization
- 7. I use to share knowledge and ideas among my team members
- 8. I use to maintain good coordination among fellow workers
- 9. I use to guide new colleagues beyond my job purview
- 10. I communicate effectively with my colleagues for problem-solving and decision-making

#### **Sustainable HRM Practices:**

The following statements relate to your experience with Human resource practices in your organization. Please respond to each statement using a scale from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 5 (Strongly Agree).

- 1. My organization truly cares about the well-being of employees.
- 2. My organization helps employees to maintain long-term employability and agility.
- 3. Managers in my organization can be counted on to help with a difficult task at work.
- 4. My job allows me to make job-related decisions on my own.
- 5. I am provided with the opportunity to suggest improvements in the way things are done.
- 6. Managers in my organization keep open communication with me on the job.
- 7. I am often asked to participate in decisions.
- 8. Employees are rewarded fairly and equitably according to the effort they put into their work in my organization